

Community-Based Participatory Research: A Partnership Approach for Public Health

Bibliography

Table of Contents

Part 1. What is Community Based Participatory Research?	
A. Community-Based Participatory Research: Definitions and Principles	2
B. Other Partnership Approaches to Research	
C. Conceptual Models of CBPR Partnerships	3
D. Other References/Resources	4
Part 2. Partnership Formation, Maintenance, Sustainability, and Evaluation	
A. Forming CBPR Partnerships	
B. Identifying and Selecting Partners	
C. Assessing Community Strengths and Dynamics	7
D. Identifying Priority Health Concerns and Research Questions	
E. Maintaining and Sustaining Partnerships	9
F. Organizational Structure and Group Processes	10
G. Working in Diverse Partnerships	
H. Evaluating Partnerships	12
Part 3. Planning and Conducting Community-Based Participatory Research	
A. Research Design & Data Collection	14
B. <u>Surveys</u>	
C. Focus Groups	16
D. In-depth Interviews and Other Qualitative Methods	16
E. Analyzing, Feeding Back, and Interpreting Results	17
F. Other References/Resources	18
Part 4. Dissemination and Translation	
A. <u>Disseminating Results</u>	20
B. Translating Results to Practice and Policy	21
Part 5. Challenges, Benefits and Lessons Learned in Conducting CBPR	
A. Challenges, Benefits and Lessons Learned in Conducting CBPR	23
B. Other References/Resources	24

Part 1. What is Community-Based Participatory Research?

A. Community-Based Participatory Research: Definitions and Principles

Coombe, C., Israel, B.A., Schulz, A.J., Parker, E.A., Reyes, A.G. (2007). Community-based participatory research. In S. Boslaugh, L. McKnutt (eds.) <u>Encyclopedia of Epidemiology</u> (pp. 209-212). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Israel, B.A., Schulz, A.J., Parker, E.A., Becker, A.B. (1998). Review of community-based research: Assessing partnership approaches to improve public health. <u>Annual Review of Public Health</u>, 19:173-202.

Israel, B.A., Schulz, A.J., Parker, E.A., Becker, A.B., Allen, A., & Guzman, R. (2004). Community-based participatory research. In N. B. Anderson (ed.) <u>Encyclopedia of Health and Behavior</u> (pp. 200-204). Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.

Israel, B.A., Schulz, A.J., Parker, E.A., Becker, A.B., Allen, A., & Guzman, J.R. (2008). Critical issues in developing and following community-based participatory research principles. In M. Minkler, N. Wallerstein (eds.), <u>Community-Based Participatory Research for Health</u>, 2nd ed (pp. 47-66). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Minkler, M. & Wallerstein, N. (2008). Introduction to CBPR: New Issues and Emphases. In M. Minkler, N. Wallerstein (eds.), <u>Community-Based Participatory Research for Health</u>, 2nd ed (pp. 5-24). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Noe, T.D., Manson, S.M., Croy, C., McGough, H., Henderson, J.A., Buchwald, D.S. (2007). The influence of community-based participatory research principles on the likelihood of participation in health research in American Indian communities. <u>Ethnicity and Disease</u>, 17(1 Suppl 1), S6-14.

Schulz, A.J., Israel, B.A., Selig, S.M., Bayer, I.S., & Griffin, C.B. (1998). Development and implementation of principles for community-based research in public health. <u>Journal of Community Practice</u>, 5(1), 83-110.

Wallerstein, N. & Duran, B. (2008). The Theoretical, Historical, and Practice Roots of CBPR. In M. Minkler, N. Wallerstein (eds.), <u>Community-Based Participatory Research for Health</u>, 2nd ed (pp. 25-46). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

B. Other Partnership Approaches to Research

Argyris, C, Putman, R, Smith, D. (1985). <u>Action Science: Concepts, Methods and Skills for Research and Intervention</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Cornwall, A., Jewkes, R. (1995). What is participatory research? <u>Social Science and Medicine</u>, 41 (12):1667-1676.

Cousins, J, Whitmore, E. (1998). Framing participatory evaluation. <u>New Directions for Evaluation</u>, 80: 5-23.

Fals-Borda, O., Rahman, M.A. (1991). <u>Action and knowledge: Breaking the monopoly with participatory action research</u>. New York: Intermediate Technology Publishers/Apex.

Fals-Borda, O. 2001. Participatory (Action) Research in Social Theory: Origins and Challenges. In Reason, P.W. & Bradbury, H. (eds.) <u>Handbook of Action Research:</u> <u>Participative Inquiry and Practice (pp. 27-37)</u>. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Hall, B. (1992). From margins to center? The development and purpose of participatory research. The American Sociologist, 23(4): 15-28.

Lewin, K. (1946). Action research and minority problems. <u>Journal of Social Issues</u>, 2(4): 34-46.

Maguire, P. (1987). <u>Doing Participatory Research: A Feminist Approach.</u> Amherst: University of Massachusetts, Center for International Education.

Reason, P, Bradbury, H. (2007). <u>The Sage Handbook of Action Research: Participative Inquiry and Practice</u>. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publishers Ltd.

Small, S.A. & Uttal, L. (2005). Action-oriented research: Strategies for engaged scholarship. <u>Journal of Marriage and Family</u>, 67: 936-948.

Tandon, R. (1981). Participatory evaluation and research: Main concepts and issues. In W. Fernandes & R. Tandon (eds.), <u>Participatory Research and Evaluation (pp. 15-34)</u>. New Delhi: Indian Social Institute.

C. Conceptual Models of CBPR Partnerships

Cargo, M., & Mercer, S. L. (2008). The value and challenges of participatory research: Strengthening its practice. Annual Review of Public Health, 29, 325-350.

Fisher, P.A., Ball, T.J. (2003). Tribal participatory research: Mechanisms of a collaborative model. <u>American Journal of Community Psychology</u>, 32(3-4), 207-216.

Schulz, A.J., Israel, B.A., Parker, E.A., Lockett, M., Hill, Y., & Wills, R. (2001). Community-based participatory research: Integrating research with action to reduce health disparities. Public Health Reports, 116:548-557.

Schulz, A.J., Israel, B.A. & Lantz, P. (2003) Instrument for evaluating dimensions of group dynamics within community-based participatory research partnerships. <u>Evaluation and Program Planning</u>, 26(3): 249-262.

Sofaer, S. (2000). <u>Working Together, Moving Ahead: A Manual to Support Effective Community Health Coalitions</u>. School of Public Affairs, Baruch College, City University of New York.

Wallerstein, N., Oetzel, J., Duran, B., Tafoya, G., Belone, L., Rae, R. (2008). What predicts outcomes in CBPR? In M. Minkler, N. Wallerstein (eds.), <u>Community-Based</u> Participatory Research for Health, 2nd ed (pp. 371-392). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

D. Other References/Resources

Community-Based Participatory Research Bibliography http://www.researchethics.org/uploads/pdf/cbpr.pdf

Developing and Sustaining CBPR Partnerships: A Skill-Building Curriculum http://www.cbprcurriculum.info/

This evidence-based curriculum is intended as a tool for community-institutional partnerships that are using or planning to use a community-based participatory research (CBPR) approach to improving health. Each of the 7 units in the curriculum includes: learning objectives; in-depth content information about the topic(s) being presented; examples & interactive exercises designed to trigger discussion and help better understand the concepts being presented; citations and suggested resources.

Guidelines and categories for classifying participatory research projects in health. Larry Green and colleagues developed a set of guidelines that can be used to appraise the extent to which research projects align with principles of participatory research. http://lgreen.net/guidelines.html

Fisher, P.A., Ball, T.J. (2005). Balancing empiricism and local cultural knowledge in the design of prevention research. <u>Journal of Urban Health</u>, 82(2 Suppl 3): 44-55.

Israel, B.A., Eng, E., Schulz, A.J., & Parker, E.A. (eds.) (2005). <u>Methods in Community-based Participatory Research for Health</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

M. Minkler, N. Wallerstein (eds.) (2008). <u>Community-Based Participatory Research for Health</u>, 2^{nd} ed. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Schulz, A.J., Krieger, J., et al. (2002). Addressing social determinants of health: community-based participatory approaches to research and practice. <u>Health Education</u> & Behavior, 29(3): 287-95.

Smith, L. (1999). <u>Decolonizing Methodologies: Research and Indigenous Peoples</u>. London: Zed Books, Ltd.

Viswanathan, M., Ammerman, A., Eng, E., Gartlehner, G., Lohr, K., Griffith, D., et al. (2004). Community-based participatory research: Assessing the evidence. (Contract No. 290-02-0016). Rockville, MD: RTI International-University of North Carolina Evidence-Based Practice Center, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. http://www.ahrq.gov/downloads/pub/evidence/pdf/cbpr/cbpr.pdf

Community-Based Participatory Research National Research Project
The University of New Mexico Center for Participatory Research in partnership with the
University of Washington Indigenous Research Wellness Institute launched a
Community-Based Participatory Research national research project in 2006 to study
how CBPR inputs of partnership and participation can improve health status and health
equity outcomes. A national advisory committee of CBPR academic experts and
community partners provide monthly oversight to the research efforts and participate in
annual research meetings.

http://mycbpr.org/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=31&Itemid=58

Part 2: Partnership Formation, Maintenance, Sustainability and Evaluation

A. Forming CBPR Partnerships

Christopher, S., Watts, V., McCormick, A., Young, S. (2008). Building and maintaining trust in a community-based participatory research partnership. <u>American Journal of Public Health</u>, 98, 1398-1406.

Developing and Sustaining CBPR Partnerships: A Skill-Building Curriculum http://www.cbprcurriculum.info/

This evidence-based curriculum is intended as a tool for community-institutional partnerships that are using or planning to use a community-based participatory research (CBPR) approach to improving health. Each of the 7 units in the curriculum includes: learning objectives; in-depth content information about the topic(s) being presented; examples & interactive exercises designed to trigger discussion and help better understand the concepts being presented; citations and suggested resources.

Freudenberg. N (2001). Case history of the Center for Urban Epidemiologic Studies in New York City. <u>Journal of Urban Health</u> 78(3): 508-518.

Higgins, D.L., Metzler, M. (2001). Implementing community-based participatory research centers in diverse urban settings. <u>Journal of Urban Health</u> 78(3): 488-494.

Israel, B.A., Schulz, A.J., Parker, E.A., & Becker, A.B. (1998). Review of community-based research: Assessing partnership approaches to improve public health. <u>Annual Review of Public Health</u>, 19, 173-202.

Israel, B.A., Schulz, A.J., Parker, E.A., Becker, A.B., Allen, A., & Guzman, J.R. (2008). Critical issues in developing and following CBPR principles. In M. Minkler & N. Wallerstein (eds.), <u>Community-Based Participatory Research for Health: From Process</u> to Outcomes (2nd ed., pp. 47-66). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Metzler, M.M., Higgins, D.L., Beeker, C.G., Freudenberg, N., Lantz, P.M., Senturia, K., et al. (2003). Addressing Urban Health in Detroit, New York, and Seattle through community-based participatory research partnerships. <u>American Journal of Public Health</u>, 93:803-811.

Parker, E.A., Israel, B.S., et al. (2003). Community action against asthma: examining the partnership process of a community-based participatory research project. <u>Journal of General Internal Medicine</u> 18(7): 558-67.

Schensul, J. (1994). <u>The Development and Maintenance of Community Research</u>
<u>Partnerships</u>. Occasional Papers in Applied Research Methods, Institute for Community Research, Hartford, CT. www.mapcruzin.com/community-research/index.html

Trinh-Shevrin, C., Islam, N., Tandon, S. D., Abesamis, N., Hoe-Asjoe, H., & Rey, M. (2007). Using Community-Based Participatory Research as a Guiding Framework for Health Disparities Research Centers. <u>Progress in Community Health Partnerships</u>, 1(2), 195-205.

Wallerstein, N., Duran, B.M., Minkler, M., & Foley, K. (2005). Developing and maintaining partnerships with communities. In B.A. Israel, E. Eng, A.J. Schulz & E. Parker (eds.), Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health (pp. 31-51). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

B. Identifying and Selecting Partners

Israel, B.A., Lichtenstein, R., Lantz, P., McGranaghan, R., Allen, A., Guzman, J.R., et al. (2001). The Detroit Community-Academic Urban Research Center: Development, implementation and evaluation. <u>Journal of Public Health Management and Practice</u>, 7(5), 1-19.

Wallerstein, N., Duran, B.M., Minkler, M., & Foley, K. (2005). Developing and maintaining partnerships with communities. In B.A. Israel, E. Eng, A.J. Schulz & E. Parker (eds.), Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health (pp. 31-51). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Example of criteria for selecting partners:

Criteria for Selecting Potential New Board Member Organizations: Detroit Community-Academic Urban Research Center Board (Adopted January, 2002). These criteria were developed by the Detroit Community-Academic Urban Research Center Board for the purpose of making decisions about potential new partner organizations to invite onto the Board. (See Resource Section "Examples of Guidelines and Procedures from the Detroit Community-Academic Urban Research Center and Affiliated Projects" for a copy of this document.)

C. Assessing Community Strengths and Dynamics

Eng, E., Moore, K., Rhodes, S.D., Griffith, D., Allison, L., Shirah, K., et al. (2005). Insiders and outsiders assess who is the community: Participant observation, key informant interview, focus group interview, and community forum. In B. A. Israel, E. Eng, A. J. Schulz & E. Parker (eds.), Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health (pp. 77-100). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Kretzmann, J.P. & McKnight, J.L. (1993). <u>Building communities from the inside out: A path toward finding and mobilizing a community's assets</u>. Chicago: ACTA.

Minkler, M., Hancock, T. (2008). Community-driven asset identification and issue selection. In M. Minkler, N. Wallerstein (eds.), <u>Community-Based Participatory Research for Health</u>, 2nd ed. (pp. 153-170). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Schulz, A.J., Parker, E.A., Israel, B.A., DeCarlo, M., & Lockett, M. (2002). Addressing social determinants of health through community-based participatory research: The East Side Village Health Worker Partnership. <u>Health Education & Behavior</u>, 29(3), 326-341.

D. Identifying Priority Health Concerns and Research Questions

Corburn, J. 2005. Tapping Local Knowledge to Understand and Combat Asthma. In Corburn, J. <u>Street Science: Community Knowledge and Environmental Health Justice</u> (pp. 111-144). Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.

Corburn, J. 2005. The Mapping of Local Knowledge. In Corburn, J. <u>Street Science:</u> Community Knowledge and Environmental Health Justice (pp. 173-199). Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.

Minkler, M., Hancock, T. (2008). Community-driven asset identification and issue selection. In M. Minkler, N. Wallerstein (eds.), <u>Community-Based Participatory Research for Health</u>, 2nd ed. (pp. 153-170). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Schulz, A. J., Parker, E. A. et al. (2002). Addressing social determinants of health through community-based participatory research: the East Side Village Health Worker Partnership. <u>Health Education & Behavior</u> 29(3): 326-41.

Staples, L. (1997). Selecting and cutting the issue. In M. Minkler (Ed.), <u>Community Organizing and Community Building for Health</u> (pp. 175-194). New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.

E. Maintaining and Sustaining Partnerships

Developing and Sustaining CBPR Partnerships: A Skill-Building Curriculum http://www.cbprcurriculum.info/

This curriculum is intended as a tool for community-institutional partnerships that are using or planning to use a community-based participatory research (CBPR) approach to improving health. Each of the 7 units in the curriculum includes: learning objectives; indepth content information about the topic(s) being presented; examples & interactive exercises designed to trigger discussion and help better understand the concepts being presented; citations and suggested resources.

Israel, B.A., Lichtenstein, R., Lantz, P., McGranaghan, R., Allen, A., Guzman, J.R., et al. (2001). The Detroit Community-Academic Urban Research Center: Development, implementation and evaluation. <u>Journal of Public Health Management and Practice</u>, 7(5), 1-19.

Israel, B.A., Krieger, J.W., Vlahov, D., Ciske, S.J., Foley, M., Fortin, P., et al. (2006). Challenges and facilitating factors in sustaining community-based participatory research partnerships: Lessons learned from the Detroit, New York City, and Seattle Urban Research Centers. <u>Journal of Urban Health</u>, 83(6), 1022-1040.

Kone, A., Sullivan, M., Senturia, K., Chrisma, n N., Ciske, S., Krieger, J. (2000). Improving collaboration between researchers and communities. <u>Public Health Reports</u> 115:243-248.

Parker, E.A., Israel, B.A., Brakefield-Caldwell, W., Keeler, G.J., Lewis, T.C., Ramirez, E., et al. (2003). Community Action Against Asthma: Examining the partnership process of a community-based participatory research project. <u>Journal of General Internal Medicine</u>, 18(7), 558-567.

Wallerstein, N., Duran, B., Minkler, M., Foley, K. 2005. Developing and Maintaining Partnerships with Communities. In Israel, B.A., Eng, E., Schulz, A.J., & Parker, E.A. (eds.), Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health (pp. 31-51). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

<u>Examples of Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)/Memorandum of Agreement (MOA):</u>

MOU for the Healthy Environments Partnership's CATCH-PATH project. This MOU was developed to specify roles, responsibilities, timelines and financial compensation between the University of Michigan School of Public Health (the fiduciary for the Healthy Environments Partnership) and one of the community-based organizations serving as a subcontractor for the CATCH-PATH intervention. (See Resource Section "Examples of Guidelines and Procedures from the Detroit Community-Academic Urban Research Center and Affiliated Projects" for a copy of this document.)

MOA for Members of the Healthy Environments Partnership Steering Committee. This MOA describes the working relationship of the Healthy Environments Partnership, the University of Michigan School of Public Health and one of the community-based Steering Committee members, including their roles and responsibilities as part of the partnership. (See Resource Section "Examples of Guidelines and Procedures from the Detroit Community-Academic Urban Research Center and Affiliated Projects" for a copy of this document.)

F. Organizational Structure and Group Process

Becker, A.B., Israel, B.A., & Allen, A. (2005). Strategies and techniques for effective group process in community-based participatory research partnerships. In B.A. Israel, E. Eng, A.J. Schulz & E. Parker (eds.), <u>Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health</u> (pp. 52-72). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Israel, B.A., Lichtenstein, R., et al. (2001). The Detroit Community-Academic Urban Research Center: development, implementation, and evaluation. <u>Journal of Public Health Management and Practice</u> 7(5): 1-19.

Johnson, D. W., & Johnson, F. P. (2003). <u>Joining Together: Group Theory and Group Skills</u> (8th ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.

Reaching Higher Ground: A Guide for Preventing, Preparing for, and Transforming Conflict for Tobacco Control Coalitions http://www.ttac.org/products/pdfs/Higher_Ground.pdf

Schulz, A.J., Israel, B.A., & Lantz, P.M. (2004). Assessing and strengthening characteristics of effective groups in community-based participatory research partnerships. In C. Garvin, M. Galinsky & L. M. Guitierrez (eds.) <u>Handbook of Social Work with Groups</u> (pp. 309-325). New York, NY: Guilford Publications.

G. Working in Diverse Partnerships

Blair, R., Cahill, K., Chopyak, J. & Cordes, C. (eds.). *Common problems, uncommon resources: Exploring the social and economic challenges of community-based research.* Third Annual Community Research Network Conference, Atlanta, June 16-18, 2000. http://www.loka.org/pages/communication.htm

Becenti-Pigman, B., Whit, K., Bowman, B., Palmanteer-Holder, N., Duran, B. (2008). Research policies, processes and protocol of the Navajo Nation Health Research Review Board. In M. Minkler & N. Wallerstein (eds.), <u>Community-Based Participatory Research for Health: From Process to Outcomes</u> (2nd ed., pp. 441-46). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Chavez, V., Duran, B., Baker, Q., Avila, M.M. & Wallerstein, N. (2008). The dance of race and privilege. In M. Minkler & N. Wallerstein (eds.), <u>Community-Based</u>

<u>Participatory Research for Health: From Process to Outcomes</u> (2nd ed., pp. 91-106). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Dutta, M. (2007). Communicating about culture and health: Theorizing culture-centered and cultural sensitivity approaches. <u>Communication Theory</u>, 17: 304-328.

LeCompte, M. (1995). Some notes on power, agenda, and voice: A researcher's personal evolution towards critical collaborative research. In P. McLaren & J. Giarelli (eds.), *Critical theory and educational research* (pp. 91-112). Albany: State University of New York Press.

Manson, S.M., Garroutte, E., Goins, R.T., Henderson, P.N. (2004). Access, relevance, and control in the research process: Lessons from Indian country. <u>Journal of Aging and Health</u>, 16(5 Suppl), 58S-77S.

Minkler, M. (2004). Ethical challenges for the "outside" researcher in community-based participatory research. Health Education & Behavior, 31(6), 684-697.

Spigner, C. (2000). African Americans, democracy, and biomedical and behavioral research: Contradictions or consensus in community-based participatory research? *International Quarterly of Community Health Education*, 3, 259-284.

Stoecker, R. (2008). Are academics irrelevant?: Approaches and roles for scholars in CBPR. In M. Minkler & N. Wallerstein (eds.), <u>Community-Based Participatory Research for Health: From Process to Outcomes</u> (2nd ed., pp. 107-120). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Sullivan, M., Kone, A., Senturia, K., Chrisman, N., Ciske, S. & Kreiger, J.W. (2001). Researcher and researched-community perspectives: Towards bridging the gap. *Health Education and Behavior*, 28(2), 130-149.

Tervalon, M., Murray-Garcia, J. (1998). Cultural humility vs. cultural competence: A critical distinction in defining physician training outcomes in medical education. <u>Journal</u> of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved, 9(2), 117-125.

H. Evaluating Partnerships

Edgren, K.K., Parker, E.A., Israel, B.A., Lewis, T.C., Salinas, M.A., Robins, T.G., Hill, Y.R (2005). Community involvement in the conduct of a health education intervention and research project: Community Action Against Asthma. <u>Health Promotion Practice</u>, 6(3): 263-269.

Israel, B, Lantz, P, McGranahan, R, Kerr, D., Guzman, R (2005). Documentation and evaluation of CBPR partnerships: In-depth interviews and closed-ended questionnaires. In Israel, B.A., Eng, E., Schulz, A.J., & Parker, E.A. (eds.), Methods in Community-based Participatory Research for Health (pp.255-278). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Israel, B. A., Parker, E. A., Rowe, Z., Salvatore, A., Minkler, M., López, J., et al. (2005). Community-based participatory research: Lessons learned from the Centers for Children's Environmental Health and Disease Prevention Research. <u>Environmental Health Perspectives</u>, 113(10), 1463-1471.

Jumper-Thurman, P., Allen, J., Deters, P.B. (2004). The Circles of Care evaluation: Doing participatory evaluation with American Indian and Alaska Native communities. <u>American Indian Alaska Native Mental Health Research</u>, 11(2): 139-154.

Kenney, E., Sofaer, S. (2000). <u>The Coalition Self-Assessment Survey: A Manual for</u> Users. New York: Baruch College, University of New York.

Lachance, L.L., Houle, C.R., Cassidy, E.F., Bourcier, E., Cohn, J.H., Orians, C.E., Coughey, K., Geng, X., Joseph, C.L.M., Lyde, M.D., Doctor, L.J., Clark, N.M. (2006). Collaborative design and implementation of a multi-site community coalition evaluation. Health Promotion Practice, Suppl. to 7(2): 44S-55S.

Lantz, P.M., Viruell-Fuentes, E., et al. (2001). Can communities and academia work together on public health research? Evaluation results from a community-based participatory research partnership in Detroit. <u>Journal of Urban Health</u> 78(3): 495-507.

Parker, E.A., Eng, E., Schulz, A.J., Israel, B.A. (1999). Evaluating community-based health programs that seek to increase community capacity. <u>New Directions for Evaluation</u>, 83:37-54.

Parker, E.A., Israel, B.A., et al. (2003). Community action against asthma: examining the partnership process of a community-based participatory research project. <u>Journal of General Internal Medicine</u> 18(7): 558-67.

Participatory Evaluation: What is it? Why do it? What are the challenges? http://depts.washington.edu/ccph/pdf_files/Evaluation.pdf

This 2002 brief lays out a framework for understanding the special nature of participatory evaluation, comparing and contrasting it with more traditional forms of evaluation; gives a rationale for its use; provides a short, step-by-step set of instructions on how to implement this approach; and then offers real-world examples of the challenges and rewards in applying the principles of participatory evaluation. Developed by the <u>Partnership for the Public's Health</u>.

Sample Evaluation Tools from Allies Against Asthma (project of Community Allies Against Asthma): http://www.asthma.umich.edu/Products/eval_instrus.html

Schulz, A.J., Israel, B.A., & Lantz, P. (2003). Instrument for evaluating dimensions of group dynamics within community-based participatory research partnerships. <u>Evaluation and Program Planning</u>, 26(3), 249-262.

Sofaer, S. (2000). <u>Working together, moving ahead: A manual to support effective community health coalitions</u>. New York: Baruch College School of Public Affairs.

Springett, J. & Wallerstein, N. (2008). Issues in participatory evaluation. In M. Minkler & N. Wallerstein (eds.), <u>Community-Based Participatory Research for Health: From Process to Outcomes</u>, 2nd ed. (pp. 199-224). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Part 3: Planning and Conducting Community-Based Participatory Research

A. Research Design & Data Collection

Tashakkori, A., Teddlie, C. (1998). <u>Mixed Methodology: Combining Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches</u>. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Creswell, J.W. (2008). <u>Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative and Mixed Method Approaches</u> (3rd edition). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Lantz, P.M., Israel, B.A., Schulz, A.J., & Reyes, A. (2006). Community-based participatory research: Rationale and relevance for social epidemiology. In J.M. Oakes & J.S. Kaufman (eds.), <u>Methods in Social Epidemiology</u> (pp. 239-266). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley Press.

Mercer, S.L., DeVinney, B.J., Fine, L.J., Green, L.W., Dougherty, D. (2007). Study designs for effectiveness and translation research: Identifying trade-offs. <u>American Journal of Preventive Medicine</u>, 33(2), 139-154.

B. Surveys

Aday, L., & Cornelius, L. (eds.). (2006). <u>Designing and Conducting Health Surveys: A Comprehensive Guide</u> (3rd ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Brown, E.R. (2004). *Community participation and community benefit in large surveys: Enhancing quality, relevance, and use of the California Health Interview Survey.* National Center for Health Statistics, Eighth Conference on Health Survey Research Methods (eds. S.B. Cohen, J.M. Lepkowski). Hyattsville, MD: NCHS (pp. 49-54).

Call, K.T., McAlpine, D., Britt, H. (2004). *Partnership with communities in survey design and implementation*. National Center for Health Statistics, Eighth Conference on Health Survey research Methods (eds. S.B. Cohen, J.M. Lepkowski). Hyattsville, MD: NCHS (pp. 61-66). [SAME COMMENT AS ABOVE.]

Dillman, D.A. (2007). <u>Mail and Internet Surveys: The Tailored Design Method. Update with Internet, Visual and Mixed Mode Guide</u> Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons.

Fink, A., & Kosecoff, J. (1998). <u>How to Conduct Surveys: A Step-by-Step Guide</u>. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Fowler, F.J. (2001). Survey Research Methods (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Page **14** of **25**

- Groves, R.M., Fowler, F.J., Couper, M.P., Lepowski, J.M., Singer, E., Tourangeau, R. (2004). <u>Survey Methodology</u>. New York: Wiley.
- Israel, B.A., Lantz, P, McGranahan, R., Kerr, D., Guzman, J.R. (2005). Documentation and evaluation of CBPR partnerships: In-depth interviews and closed ended questionnaires. In B. Israel, E. Eng, A. Schulz E. Parker (eds) <u>Methods in Community-based Participatory Research for Health</u> (pp. 255-277). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Kieffer, E.C., Tabaei, B.P., Carman, W.J., Nolan, G.H., Guzman, J.R., Herman, W.H. (2006). The influence of maternal weight and glucose tolerance on birth weight in Latino mother-infant pairs. <u>American Journal of Public Health</u>, 96: 2201-2208.
- Nardi, P. M. (2002). <u>Doing Survey Research: A Guide to Quantitative Research</u> Methods. Boston, MA: Pearson Allyn & Bacon.
- Parker, E.A., Israel, B.A., et al. (2008). Evaluation of Community Action Against Asthma: A community health worker intervention to improve children's asthma-related health by reducing household environmental triggers for asthma. Health Education & Behavior 35(3): 376-95.
- Parker, E.A., Lichtenstein, R.L., et al. (2001). Disentangling measures of individual perceptions of community social dynamics: results of a community survey. <u>Health Education & Behavior</u> 28(4): 462-86.
- Schulz, A.J., House, J.S., et al. (2008). Relational pathways between socioeconomic position and cardiovascular risk in a multiethnic urban sample: complexities and their implications for improving health in economically disadvantaged populations. <u>Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health</u>, 62(7): 638-46.
- Schulz, A.J., Parker, E.A., et al. (1998). Conducting a participatory community-based survey for a community health intervention on Detroit's east side. <u>Journal of Public</u> Health Management and Practice, 4(2): 10-24.
- Schulz, A.J., Zenk, S.N., Kannan, S., Israel, B.A., Koch, M.A., Stokes, C. (2005). Community-based participatory approach to survey design and implementation: The Health Environments Partnership Survey. In B.A. Israel, E. Eng, A.J. Schulz & E. Parker (eds.), Methods for Conducting Community-Based Participatory Research for Health (pp. 107-127). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Two Feathers, J., Kieffer, E., Palmisano, G., Anderson, M., Janz, N., Spencer, M, Guzman, J.R., James, S. (2007). The development, implementation, and process evaluation of the REACH Detroit partnership's diabetes lifestyle intervention. <u>The Diabetes Educator</u>, 33(3); 509-520.

C. Focus Groups

Israel, B.A., Schulz, A.J., Estrada-Martinez, L., Zenk, S., Viruell-Fuentes, E., Villarruel, A., Stokes, C (2006). Engaging urban residents in assessing neighborhood environments and their implications for health. <u>Journal of Urban Health</u> 83(3): 523-539.

Kieffer, E.C., Salabarría-Peña, Y., Odoms-Young, A., Willis, S., Baber, K., Guzman, J.R. (2005). The application of focus group methodologies to community-based participatory research. In B.A. Israel, E. Eng, A.J. Schulz & E. Parker (eds.), Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health (pp. 146-166). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Kieffer, E., Willis, S., Arellano, N., Guzman, J.R. (2002). Perspectives of pregnant and postpartum Latino women on diabetes, physical activity and health. <u>Health Education & Behavior</u>, 29(5): 542-556.

Kieffer, E.C., Willis, S.K., et al. (2004). Reducing disparities in diabetes among African-American and Latino residents of Detroit: The essential role of community planning focus groups. <u>Ethnicity & Disease</u> 14(3 Suppl 1): S27-37.

Krueger, R. A. (1988). <u>Focus Groups: A Practical Guide for Applied Research</u> (1st ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Morgan, D.L., Krueger, R.A. (1997). The Focus Group Kit. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Schulz, A.J., Israel, B.A., et al. (1997). It's a 24-hour thing ... a living-for-each-other concept: identity, networks, and community in an urban village health worker project. <u>Health Education & Behavior</u> 24(4): 465-80.

D. In-depth Interviews and Other Qualitative Methods

Denzin, N. K., Lincoln, Y.S. (eds.). (2000). <u>Handbook of Qualitative Research</u> (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Israel, B.A., Lantz, P., McGranahan, R., Kerr, D., Guzman, J.R (2005). Documentation and evaluation of CBPR partnerships: In-depth interviews and closed ended questionnaires. In B.A. Israel, E. Eng, A.J. Schulz & E.A. Parker (eds.) <u>Methods in Community-based Participatory Research for Health</u> (pp. 255-277). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

López, E.D., Eng, E., Robinson, N., Wang, C.C. (2005). Photovoice as a community-based participatory research method: A case study with African American breast cancer survivors in rural eastern North Carolina. In B.A. Israel, E. Eng, A.J. Schulz & E.A.

Parker (eds.), <u>Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health</u> (pp. 326-348). San Francisco: Jossey Bass.

McQuiston, C., Parrado, E.A., Olmos-Muñiz, J.C., & Bustillo Martinez, A.M. 2005. Community-Based Participatory Research and Ethnography: The Perfect Union, and Appendix F: Field Notes Guide. In Israel, B.A., Eng, E., Schulz, A.J., & Parker, E.A. (eds.), Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health (pp. 210-229). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Patton, M.Q. (2002). <u>Qualitative Research and Evaluation Methods</u>, 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Strauss, A., Corbin, J. (1990). <u>Basics of Qualitative Research: Grounded Theory Procedures and Techniques</u>. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Thornton, P., Kieffer, E.C., Salabarría-Peña, Y., Odoms-Young, A.M., Willis, S. K., Kim, H.K., Salinas, M.A. (2006). Weight, diet and physical activity-related beliefs and practices among pregnant and postpartum Latino women: The role of social support. Maternal and Child Health Journal, 10(1):95-104.

E. Analyzing, Feeding Back, and Interpreting Results

Baker, E A., Moton, F.L. (2005). Creating understanding and action through group dialogue. In B.A. Israel, E. Eng, A.J. Schulz & E.A. Parker (eds.), <u>Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health</u> (pp. 307-325). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Cashman, S.B., Adeky, S., et al. (2008). The power and the promise: Working with communities to analyze data, interpret findings, and get to outcomes. <u>American Journal of Public Health</u>, 98(8): 1407-17.

Coombe, C.M. (2007). The effects of urban residential environments on mental well being: a multilevel analysis of neighborhood stability, middle income composition, and depression in Detroit. Doctoral Dissertation, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor.

Kannan, S., Schulz, A.J., Israel, B.A., Arya, I., Weir, S.S., Dvonch, J.T. et al. (2008). A community based participatory approach to personalized computer generated nutrition feedback reports: The Healthy Environments Partnership. <u>Progress in Community Health Partnerships: Research Education and Action</u>, 2.1: 41-50.

Macaulay, A.C., Ing, A., Salsberg, J., McGregor, A., Saad-Haddad, C., Rice, J., et al. (2007). Community-based participatory research: Lessons From sharing results with the Community: Kahnawake Schools Diabetes Prevention Project. <u>Progress in Community Health Partnerships: Research Education and Action</u>, 1(2): 143-152.

Parker, E.A., Robins, T.G., Israel, B.A., Brakefield-Caldwell, W., Edgren, K.K., Wilkins, D.J. (2005). Developing and Implementing Guidelines for Dissemination: The Experience of the Community Action Against Asthma Project. In B.A. Israel, E. Eng, A.J. Schulz & E.A. Parker (eds.), Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health (pp. 285-306). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Zenk, S.N., Schulz, A.J., Israel, B.A., James, S.A., Wilson, M.L. (2003). "Spatial distribution of food stores shapes availability, quality, and cost of fresh produce in four Detroit area communities." Presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Public Health Association.

F. Other References/Resources

Chavez, V., Israel, B.A., Allen, A., Lichtenstein, R., DeCarlo, M., Schulz, A.J., et al. (2004). A bridge between communities: Video-making using principles of community-based participatory research. <u>Health Promotion Practice</u>, 5:395-403.

Christopher, S., Burhansstipanov, L, Knows His Gun-McCormick, A. (2005). Using a CBPR Approach to Develop an Interviewer Training Manual with Members of the Apsáalooke Nation. In B.A. Israel, E. Eng, A.J. Schulz & E.A. Parker (eds.), Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health (pp. 128-145). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Hebert, P.L., Sisk, J.E., Howell, E.A. (2008). When does a difference become a disparity? Conceptualizing racial and ethnic disparities in health. <u>Health Affairs</u> (Millwood), 27(2), 374-382.

Keeler, G.J., Dvonch, J.T., Yip, F.Y., et al. (2002). Assessment of personal and community-level exposures to particulate matter among children with asthma in Detroit, Michigan, as part of Community Action Again Asthma (CAAA). <u>Environmental Health</u> Perspectiv<u>es</u>, 113 (8): 1068-1075.

López, E.D., Lichtenstein, R., Lewis, A., Banaszak-Hall, J., Lewis, C., Johnson, P., et al. (2007). Drawing from Freirian empowerment methods to develop and use innovative learning maps: Increasing enrollment of uninsured children on Detroit's eastside. <u>Health Promotion Practice</u>, 8(2):181-191.

Morello-Frosch, R. A., Pastor Jr., M., Sadd, J. L., Porras, C., Prichard, M. (2005). Citizens, science, and data judo: Leveraging secondary data analysis to build a community-academic collaborative for environmental justice in Southern California. In B.A. Israel, E. Eng, A.J. Schulz & E.A. Parker (eds.), Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health (pp. 371-392). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Participatory Evaluation: What is it? Why do it? What are the challenges? http://depts.washington.edu/ccph/pdf_files/Evaluation.pdf

This 2002 brief lays out a framework for understanding the special nature of participatory evaluation, comparing and contrasting it with more traditional forms of evaluation. It gives a rationale for its use; provides a short, step-by-step set of instructions on how to implement this approach; and then offers real-world examples of the challenges and rewards in applying the principles of participatory evaluation. Developed by the Partnership for the Public's Health.

Schulz, A.J., Israel, B.A., Parker, E.A., Lockett, M., Hill, Y., & Wills, R. (2002). Engaging women in community-based participatory research for health: The East Side Village Health Worker Partnership. In M. Minkler, N. Wallerstein (eds.). Community-Based Participatory Research for Health (pp. 293-315). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Zenk, S.N., Schulz, A.J., et al. (2007). Inter-rater and test-retest reliability: methods and results for the neighborhood observational checklist. <u>Health & Place</u> 13(2): 452-65.

Zenk, S.N., Schulz, A.J., House, J. S., Benjamin, A., & Kannan, S. (2005). Application of community-based participatory research in the design of an observational tool: The Neighborhood Observational Checklist. In B.A. Israel, E. Eng, A.J. Schulz & E.A. Parker (eds.), Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health (pp. 167-187). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Community Based Participatory Research National Research Project Inventory of measures of CBPR resulting from the pilot CBPR study funded by the National Center on Minority Health & Health Disparities (NCMHD, 2006-2008) in partnership with the University of New Mexico and the Native American Research Centers for Health (NARCH).

http://mycbpr.org/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=21&Itemid=43

Part 4: Dissemination and Translation

Green, L., Ottoson, J. (2004). *Proceedings from Conference: From efficacy to effectiveness to community and back: Evidence-based practice vs. practice-based evidence*. Paper presented at the From Clinical Trials to Community: The Science of Translating Diabetes and Obesity Research, Bethesda.

International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (2004). *Uniform requirements for manuscripts submitted to biomedical journals*. http://www.icmje.org

A. Disseminating Results

Macaulay, A. C., Ing, A., Salsberg, J., McGegor, A., Saad-Haddad, C., Rice, J., et al. (2007). Community-based participatory research: Lessons from sharing results with the community: Kahnawake Schools Diabetes Prevention Project. <u>Progress in Community</u> Health Partnerships, 1(2), 143-152.

Miller, R.L., Shinn, M. (2005). Learning from communities: Overcoming difficulties in dissemination of prevention and promotion efforts. <u>American Journal of Community Psychology</u>, 35(3-4), 169-183

Parker, E.A., Robins, T.G., Israel, B.A., Brakefield-Caldwell, W., Edgren, K.K., & Wilkins, D. (2005). Developing and implementing guidelines for dissemination: The experience of the Community Action Against Asthma project. In B.A. Israel, E. Eng, A.J. Schulz & E. Parker (eds.), Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health (pp. 285-306). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Parker, E., Robins, T., Israel, B.A., Brakefield-Caldwell, W., Edgren, K., Wilkins, D. (2005). Appendix I: Philosophy and guiding principles for dissemination of findings of the Michigan Center for the Environment and Children's Health (MCECH) including authorship of publications and presentations, policies and procedures, access to data, and related matters. In B.A. Israel, E. Eng, A.J. Schulz & E. Parker (eds.), Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health (pp. 434-437). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass. (See Resource Section "Examples of Guidelines and Procedures from the Detroit Community-Academic Urban Research Center and Affiliated Projects" for a copy of this document.)

Example of Request for Data Form:

Request for Data Form: Procedures for Request, Use and Dissemination of REACH Detroit Partnership Data.

This form, which also includes a companion form "Authorization to Use Data", was developed by the REACH Detroit Partnership for processing requests from outside groups and individuals who wish to use data from studies conducted by the REACH Detroit Partnership. (See Resource Section "Examples of Guidelines and Procedures

from the Detroit Community-Academic Urban Research Center and Affiliated Projects" for a copy of this document.)

B. Translating Results to Practice and Policy

Dzewaltowski, D.A., Glasgow, R.E., Klesges, L.M., Estabrooks, P.A., Brock, E. (2004). RE-AIM: Evidence-based standards and a web resource to improve translation of research into practice. <u>Annals of Behavioral Medicine</u>, 28(2): 75-80.

Freudenberg, N., Rogers, M.A., Ritas, C., Nerney, M. (2005). Policy analysis and advocacy: An approach to community-based participatory research. In B.A. Israel, E. Eng, A.J. Schulz & E.A. Parker (eds.), <u>Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health</u> (pp. 349-370). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Glasgow, R.E., Emmons, K.M. (2007). How can we increase translation of research into practice? Types of evidence needed. <u>Annual Review of Public Health</u>, 28: 413-433.

Israel, B.A., Schulz, A.J., et al. (2001). Community-based participatory research: policy recommendations for promoting a partnership approach in health research. <u>Education for Health</u> 14(2): 182-97.

Mercer, S.L., DeVinney, B.J., Fine, L.J., Green, L.W., Dougherty, D. (2007). Study designs for effectiveness and translation research: identifying trade-offs. <u>American Journal of Preventive Medicine</u>; 33(2): 139-154.

Morello-Frosch, R., Pastor, Jr., M., Sadd, J.L., Porras, C., Prichard, M. (2005). Citizens, science, and data judo: Leveraging secondary data analysis to build a community-academic collaborative for environmental justice in Southern California. In B.A. Israel, E. Eng, A.J. Schulz & E. Parker (eds.), Methods in Community-Based Participatory Research for Health (pp. 371-392). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Petersen, D.M., Minkler, M., Breckwich Vasquez, V., Kegler, M.C., Malcoe, L.H., Whitecrow, S. (2007). Using community-based participatory research to shape policy and prevent lead exposure among Native American children. <u>Progress in Community Health Partnerships: Research Education and Action</u>, 1(3): 249-256.

Speaking Truth, Creating Power: A Guide to Policy Work for Community-Based Participatory Research Practitioners

http://depts.washington.edu/ccph/pdf files/ritas.pdf

Authored by Cassandra Ritas, this tool-kit is designed for community-based participatory research institutional and community partners who want to create or change policies that affect health in their communities.

Sussman, S., Valente, T.W., Rohrbach, L.A., Skara, S., Pentz, M.A. (2006). Translation in the health professions: Converting science into action. <u>Evaluation & the Health Professions</u>, 29(1): 7-32.

Themba-Nixon, M., Minkler, M., Freudenberg, N. (2008) The role of CBPR in policy advocacy. In M. Minkler & N. Wallerstein (eds) <u>Community-based Participatory</u> <u>Research for Health: From Process to Outcomes</u> (2nd ed) (pp. 307-322). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Minkler, M., Vasquez, V.B., Chang, C., Miller, J., Rubin, V., Blackwell, A.G., et al. (2008). *Promoting Healthy Public Policy through Community-Based Participatory Research: Ten Case Studies*: University of California Berkeley and PolicyLink.

Part 5: Challenges, Benefits and Lessons Learned in Conducting CBPR

A. Challenges, Benefits and Lessons Learned in Conducting CBPR

Cargo, M., Mercer, S.L. (2008). The value and challenges of participatory research: Strengthening its practice. Annual Review of Public Health, *29*, 325-350.

Downie, J, Cottrell, B. (2001). Community-Based Research Ethics Review: Reflections on Experience and Recommendations for Action. Health Law Review 10(1): 8-17.

Faridi, Z., Grunbaum, J.A., Gray, B.S., Franks, A., Simoes, E. (2007). Community-based participatory research: Necessary next steps. <u>Preventing Chronic Disease</u>, 4(3), A70.

Green, L.W., George, M.A., Daniel, M., Frankish, C.J., Herbert, C.J., Bowie, W. R., et al. (1995). Study of Participatory Research in Health Promotion: Review and Recommendations for the Development of Participatory Research in Health Promotion in Canada. Vancouver, BC: University of British Columbia Institute of Health Promotion Research, Royal Society of Canada.

Israel, B.A., Lichtenstein, R.L., et al. (2001). The Detroit Community-Academic Urban Research Center: Development, implementation, and evaluation. <u>Journal of Public Health Management and Practice</u> 7(5): 1-19.

Israel, B.A., Schulz, A.J., Parker, E.A., Becker, A.B. (1998). Review of community-based research: Assessing partnership approaches to improve public health. <u>Annual Review of Public Health</u>, 19:173-202.

Israel, B. A., Parker, E. A., Rowe, Z., Salvatore, A., Minkler, M., López, J., et al. (2005). Community-based participatory research: Lessons learned from the Centers for Children's Environmental Health and Disease Prevention Research. <u>Environmental Health Perspectives</u>, 113(10), 1463-1471.

Kieffer, E.C., Carman, W.J., et al. (2001). Obesity and gestational diabetes among African-American women and Latinas in Detroit: implications for disparities in women's health. Journal of the American Medical Women's Association, 56(4): 181-7, 196.

Manson, S.M., Garroutte, E., Goins, R.T., Henderson, P.N. (2004). Access, relevance, and control in the research process: Lessons from Indian country. <u>Journal of Aging and Health</u>, 16(5 Suppl), 58S-77S.

Metzler, M.M., Higgins, D.L., Beeker, C.G., Freudenberg, N., Lantz, P.M., Senturia, K., et al. (2003). Addressing Urban Health in Detroit, New York, and Seattle through community-based participatory research partnerships. <u>American Journal of Public Health</u>, 93:803-811.

Shore, N., Wong, K., Seifer, S.D., Grignon, J., Gambl, V.N. (2008). Advancing the ethics of community-based participatory research. <u>Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics</u>, 3(2), 1-4.

Strickland, C.J. (2006). Challenges in community-based participatory research implementation: Experiences in cancer prevention with Pacific Northwest American Indian tribes. <u>Cancer Control</u>, 13(3), 230-236

Zenk, S.N., Schulz, A.J., Israel, B.A., House, J.S., Benjamin, A., Kannan, S. (2005). Use of community-based participatory research to assess environmental determinants of health: Challenges, facilitators, and implications for universities. Metropolitan Universities Journal, 16:107-125.

B. Other References/Resources

Community-Engaged Scholarship

http://depts.washington.edu/ccph/scholarship.html

This webpage provides an overview of the field of community-engaged scholarship (CES) including defining key terms, outlining assessment standards, reviewing the support for and barriers to promoting CES and discussing current efforts underway in promoting CES in academic institutions and other organizations.

The Community-Engaged Scholarship Review, Promotion & Tenure Package http://depts.washington.edu/ccph/pdf_files/CES_RPT_Package.pdf

This 55-page resource describes 8 characteristics of quality community-engaged scholarship, and includes a sample dossier that shows how a community-engaged scholar may present his or her work to review, promotion and tenure (RPT) committees. A group exercise simulating an RPT committee process can be used as an educational tool with RPT committees.

Developing and Sustaining Community-University Partnerships for Health Research: Infrastructure Requirements

http://depts.washington.edu/ccph/pdf_files/p-nih012903.pdf

Community Campus Partnership for Health (CCPH) was commissioned by the NIH Office of Behavioral and Social Sciences Research to prepare this report. Published in January 2003, the paper identifies nine critical issues that affect the infrastructure required for community-university research partnerships and, consequently, the future of the field. Attention to these issues is critical in order to provide the necessary support for both academic and community partners.

Page **24** of **25**

Directory of Funding Sources for Community-Based Participatory Research http://depts.washington.edu/ccph/pdf_files/directory-062704f.pdf

Published by CCPH and the Northwest Health Foundation in June 2004, this directory includes funding agency descriptions, deadlines, contact information, examples of previously funded CBPR projects, and an annotated listing of funding resource websites.

Ensuring Community-Level Research Protections

http://depts.washington.edu/ccph/pdf_files/FinalResearchEthicsCallSeriesReport.pdf
This 33-page report is the proceedings from the 2007 Educational Conference Call
Series on Institutional Review Boards and Ethical Issues in Research co-sponsored by
Community Campus Partnerships for Health (CCPH) and the Tuskegee University
National Center for Bioethics in Research and Health Care. The report is intended as a
resource and discussion piece for a wide variety of groups interested in learning about
community-level research protections and ensuring that communities involved in
research maximize their benefits and minimize their risks. A list of resources, including
publications, organizations and websites, is provided.

Tips & Strategies for Developing Strong Community-Based Participatory Research Proposals

http://depts.washington.edu/ccph/pdf_files/cbpr-reviewf.pdf

This handout was developed by Community Campus Partnerships for Health (CCPH) as a resource for those seeking funding to support CBPR. It contains a list of suggestions for ways to strengthen proposals, and a list of resources for staying on top of CBPR funding opportunities.